# CORVINUS UNIVERSITY OF BUDAPEST

Doctoral School of International Relations and Political Science Institute of World Economy

# DO WATER ACCESS INEQUALITIES MATTER FOR CHILD MORTALITY?

A perspective from low-and-middle-income countries

by

Urangoo Bulgamaa

Supervisor:

Dr. Gábor Kutasi (PhD, dr. Habil)

# THESIS BOOKLET

Budapest, 2023

# Table of Contents

1. Theoretical background and justification of the topic	1
2. Methodology	5
2.1 Scope of the study	5
2.2 Data, Sources and Variables	9
2.3 Methods 2.3.1 Concentration index as a preferred approach to socioeconomic	12
inequality	12
2.3.2 Panel approach	13
2.3.3 Comparative case study approach	14
2.3.4 Software	14
3. Findings & Payoffs	14
3.1 Findings	14
3.2 Payoffs	16
4. Main references	18
5. List of selected publications	22

#### 1. Theoretical background and justification of the topic

The primary focus of the dissertation project is to explore the intersection of water and health through an economics perspective. On one hand, water plays a vital role in human health and survival from the public health/epidemiological standpoint. On the other hand, it is a crucial resource for supporting flora and fauna from an environmental viewpoint. However, the significance of water has been neglected in the realm of economics research, resulting in its relative absence in the realm of policies as well. How can we continue to ignore such a critical resource that underpins life and the world? Motivated by this question, my interest was sparked to delve deeper into the role of water. It became evident, particularly during my participation in World Water Week back in 2019, that water stands at the heart of everything, interconnecting environment, ecology, biology, engineering, technology, health, development studies, anthropology, society, business, economics, politics, geopolitics, and international relations. Nonetheless, while traditionally environmental science and more recently interdisciplinary studies have taken on a more active role in this sphere. Consequently, approaches to the study of water are evolving from disciplinary to multidisciplinary, interdisciplinary, and transdisciplinary. This enrichment also reveals the complexity of the research problem - water.

Taking stock of the knowledge in the relevant literature, we recognize the role of health in economic development (Barro, 2013, 1996; Finlay, 2007; Grossman, 1972; Mushkin, 1962; World Bank, 1993) and human development (United Nations, 1990), on the one hand, and the role of water in health from a health economics perspective (Cutler et al., 2006; Cutler and Miller, 2005). On the other hand, we can approach water from a welfare economics perspective, addressing the distribution of water by asking 'Who gets safe water and who does not?'. This question is particularly relevant in the context of low-andmiddle-income countries, given that achieving a full coverage of access to safe water is still at the heart of global development agenda. Then the obvious follow-up question emerges connecting it to health: 'Whether and how this discrepancy affects health status of the people?'. It then becomes as the central question of the dissertation project. By answering this question, we attempt to contribute this line of research from an economics perspective. In particular, the review of the literature reveals that whether and how the distribution of water access affects child mortality (i) and its economic transmission channel (ii) are unclear (Besnier et al., 2021; Fink et al., 2011; Hoddinott, 1997; Setty et al., 2020, 2019). Moreover, child mortality caused by diarrhea received nearly no attention in the literature, despite only one recent study published (Local Burden of Disease WaSH Collaborators, 2020).

Building on this theoretical background connecting *water access inequality* and *child mortality*, we look at the global health policy sphere to understand the dynamics of the child mortality, especially caused by the infections closely connected to water. The stylized facts yield the following insights. First, diarrhea is the second major killer of children age under 5 globally, after neonatal disorder (Figure 1). Second, diarrhea is the primary concern among the intestinal infections/water borne infections (Figure 2). Third, almost exclusively it is a development concern in low-middle-income-countries. The highest intensity of the disease burden lies in Sub-Saharan Africa, while the lowest burden appears in Europe and Central Asia (Figure 2). Fourth, Infants and children age under 5 are the most vulnerable age groups in mortality caused by diarrheal disease (Figure 3) apart from old age mortality. This demonstrates the relevance of our study.

Figure 1. Diarrhea infection remains as the second major killer among children age under 5 as of 2017



Source: IHME. GBD Compare Data Visualization: <u>http://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare</u>. (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), 2020)



Figure 2. Mortality by intestinal infections by World bank regions

Source: IHME. GBD Compare Data Visualization: http://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare.

Figure 3. Mortality by the causes (intestinal infections) and age groups as of 2019



Source: IHME. GBD Compare Data Visualization: http://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare.

#### 2. Methodology

#### 2.1 Scope of the study

Chapter 2 provides a theoretical background of the analysis by clarifying the definition of socioeconomic inequality in water access, approaches to socioeconomic inequality, and economic transmission channel alongside the detailed discussion on the determinants of child mortality. In brief, we define water access inequality as the extent to which inequalities in water access are related to indicators of socioeconomic status such as income/wealth, in line with rankdependent concentration index approach, building on Wagstaff, Paci, and van Doorslaer (1991). Water access inequality measured by concentration index approach is, therefore, built upon a foundation of welfare economics (Bleichrodt and van Doorslaer, 2006). Concentration index approach to socioeconomic inequality is an alternative to Sen's concept of Equality of Capability (Sen, 1993, 1992) and Human Opportunity Index (Paes de Barros et al., 2009) which is based on Roemer's Equality of Opportunity theory and (Roemer, 1998).

When it comes to an economic transmission channel, it seems water access inequality affects child health through poverty. Intuition is water access tends to be associated with living condition and location of home. Richer people are guaranteed to have home which has access to adequate drinking water and safe sanitation facilities. They tend to be granted access to these facilities at schools and hospitals as well. Whereas poor people tend to lack such access to these facilities, especially in developing world because the universal access to clean water and safe sanitation facilities are realized in most parts of developed world. In similar vein, Deaton highlighted poverty channel through which health effect of income inequality is quite well captured especially in the context of low-and-middle-income countries (Deaton, 2003).

Building on (Anand and Bärnighausen, 2012, 2007, 2004a; Cutler et al., 2006; Gunther and Fink, 2010; Hoddinott, 1997; Novignon and Lawanson, 2017; Nyamuranga and Shin, 2019; Pickett and Wilkinson, 2015; Szreter, 1988; Watson, 2006; Wilkinson and Pickett, 2006; Woods et al., 1989, 1988) we present the determinants of child mortality in Figure 4, which in turn, serves as a conceptual background of the analytical models in Chapter 5.





The dissertation project aims to address the gap identified in the literature by clarifying the theoretical/ conceptual background of both child mortality and water access inequality (i) and by generating robust empirical evidence on whether water access inequality is a significant determinant of child diarrhea mortality in the context of low-andmiddle-income countries by applying a mixed methods approach (ii). To achieve this goal, we follow 4 mutually exclusive yet sequential set of objectives. First, we aim to provide a theoretical/conceptual background of the project by setting a story for health and economic development through a political economy lens (i), clarifying the determinants of child mortality from a health economics perspective (ii), clarifying the concept of socioeconomic inequalities in water access from a welfare economics perspective (iii), highlighted a plausible economic transmission channel (iv), and selecting a preferred method to quantify water access inequality based on the review of relevant empirical literature (v).

Second, building on this background, we construct water access inequality index in order to reveal its global trend and patterns by assessing 61 countries (objective 2) between 2000 and 2017 (N=61 and t=18).

Third, we assess the likely effects of water access inequality on the two child mortality outcomes by utilizing an extended panel approach with Driscoll-Kraay standard error and the panel data constructed for 47 countries covering the period between 2000 and 2017 (N=47 and t=18). In doing so, we combine the datasets from own estimates of Chapter 4 and other international sources to construct a multi-country, multi-year panel.

Fourth, the last empirical analysis aims to assess how water access inequality affects 'success' and 'failure' of the efforts in reducing child diarrhea mortality in the cases to be selected by applying a comparative case study approach.

#### Hypotheses:

Theoretical literature yields hypotheses-1, which is tested in Chapters 5, while hypothesis-2 is tested in Chapter 6.

**H-1:** *Water access inequality* is significantly positively associated with *child diarrhea mortality* 

**H-2:** *Changes in water access inequality (WII)* are significantly associated with *changes in child diarrhea mortality (CDM)* 

H-2.1: Decrease WII – Success CDM
H-2.2: Increase WII – Failure CDM
H-2.3: Absence of progress WII - Success CDM, if
the absence of change in WII is due to the presence of a high
initial coverage of water
H-2.4: Absence of progress WII - Failure CDM, if
the absence of progress in WII is due to the absence of

improvement towards full coverage of water

#### 2.2 Data, Sources and Variables

The research project exploits publicly available international datasets from the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), World Development Indicators, WHO/UNICEF – Joint Monitoring Program, UNDP – Human Development Index, and WHO. In doing so, a panel on the key explanatory variable (water access inequality) and a control variable (sanitation access inequality) were estimated by the author building on the WHO/UNICEF –JMP wealth-quintiles datasets for all countries in the sample. In doing so, we utilized data on basic category of water services (as well as sanitation services) as it is the secondbest category, where wealth quintile dataset is available. This dataset is built based on the estimates of DHS & MICS household survey (WHO-UNICEF, 2018). Water access expressed by wealth quintiles are produced by applying Principal Component Analysis (PCA), following the method suggested by Filmer & Pritchett (2001).

The most influential academic journals in health economics include Journal of Health Economics, Health Economics, Health Services Research, Pharmacoeconomics, and Journal of Human Resources, while Top 10 most cited scientists globally were David M. Cutler, Jonathan Gruber, Paul Newhouse, Mark V. Pauly, W. Kip Viscusi, Janet M. Currie, Michael Grossman, Frank A. Sloan, Adam Wagstaff, and Eddy van Doorslaer, and the highest ranked institutions were Harvard University, World Bank, MIT, University of California at Berkeley, Chicago University, Pennsylvania University, Michigan University, and York University (Jakovljevic and Ogura, 2016, p. 2).

No	Indicator	Source	Scale
1	U5MRD	IHME	log scale, Per 1000 live
2	U5MRD, female	IHME	ontins
3	U5MRD, male	IHME	
4	IMD	IHME	
5	IMD, female	IHME	
6	IMD, male	IHME	
7	Water access inequality index (WII)	Own estimates using JMP data	log scale, ranges between -1 and +1
8	Sanitation access inequality index (SII)	Own estimates using JMP data	log scale, ranges between -1 and +1
9	GDP per capita	World Development Indicators	log scale, per capita PPP (current international \$)
10	Gini index	World Development Indicators	log scale, 0-100, %
11	Female education	UNDP	log scale, Percentage of population
12	Physicians' density	World Development Indicators	Per 1000 people
13	Health expenditure per capita	World Development Indicators	log scale, per capita PPP (current international \$)
14	ORS coverage	IHME	log scale, Percentage
15	Cereal yield	World Development Indicators	log scale, kg per hectare
16	Urbanization	World Development Indicators	log scale, Percentage of population
17	Breastfeeding exclusive	IHME	Percentage

Table 3. Variables and Data sources

**Note:** The reasons for inclusion and exclusion of the variables are discussed in Chapter 3.

#### Justification on the selection of the variables:

Building on the theoretical background (Figure 4), we include the following determinants of child mortality caused by diarrhea in the empirical analyses: GDP per capita, Income inequality, Nutrition, Urbanization, Female education, Healthcare, and Treatment - ORS. These determinants are in line with the synthesis study of David Cutler, Angus Deaton and Lleras-Muney. Since our key interest is accounting the distribution of water access, water access inequality (WII) came to the model as a key explanatory variable, instead of water. For the same reason, we include sanitation access inequality (SII) in the model as a control variable. Moreover, maternal health is suggested as a determinant in child mortality by Cutler and colleagues, yet we consider mother's health is captured by nutrition variable in our macro-analysis, as nutrition is associated with good health (Fogel, 1997). In addition, since we take the nutrition into account as a determinant, we should also control a nutritious status of children. Breastfeeding is known as the most nutritious food for infants and children, and associated with better nutritious status (Roberts et al., 2013). To capture this effect, we included breastfeeding variable in the analytical model.

Immunization variable is excluded from the empirical panel models due to the following reasons. First, our dependent variable is child mortality caused by diarrheal disease. Against diarrheal infection, there is only one vaccination available to date, which first launched in 2006 (World Health Organization, 2021). Despite its availability, Rotavirus vaccine is one of the relatively new and underutilized vaccines, therefore, panel data on coverage of rotavirus vaccine is not sufficiently enough. For this reason, it is excluded. To date, there is no study published that was able to observe the effect of Rotavirus vaccine in a cross-country panel design. All-cause-mortality studies that accounted for the effects of immunization were always included other key vaccines other than Rotavirus vaccine. However, these other routine vaccines are not protective towards diarrheal infection; therefore, these are also excluded from our analytical model. Furthermore, how scarce the data on the coverage of Rota-vaccine is visible in Chapter 6.

#### 2.3 Methods

# **2.3.1** Concentration index as a preferred approach to socioeconomic inequality

Chapter 4 quantifies water access inequality index by applying Concentration index (CI) approach developed by the prominent health economists of our time (Kakwani et al., 1997; O'Donnell et al., 2007; Wagstaff et al., 1991). It is rooted from a welfare economics foundation (Bleichrodt and van Doorslaer, 2006). As an alternative approach to socioeconomic inequality, CI is a competing approach to egalitarian approaches such as human opportunity index (HOI), which was built upon the concept of equality of opportunity (Paes de Barros et al., 2009; Roemer, 1998) and the concept of Equality of Capability (Sen, 1993, 1992). The key advantage of the CI approach is twofold. First reason is its efficiency and accuracy compared to HOI (Kanbur and Wagstaff, 2014) and other approaches such as The range, Lorenz curve and Gini index, Pseudo Lorenz curves and the index of dissimilarity (Wagstaff et al., 1991). Second, its pragmatic ability to be integrated into existing knowledge and datasets collected through decades of international collaboration compared to both. For example, CI is already integrated to measuring global health efforts such as Health Equity Assessment Toolkit (HEAT) of WHO. This idea is also highlighted by the inequality researchers (Cetrulo et al., 2020) suggesting it can be integrated to measuring water access inequalities under the umbrella of Sustainable Development Goal 6, despite its limitation for being unable to capture multidimensional aspects of inequality.

#### 2.3.2 Panel approach

For Chapter 5, the panel fixed effects regression models are constructed to test the hypothesis -1. In each model, each outcome variable is specified as a linear function of household water access inequality (Greene, 2003). For the period of 2000 and 2017, the model examines the child mortality effects of water access inequality. We interpolated and standardized by transforming into logarithmic values.

We conducted 7 diagnostic tests to select the appropriate model and their extensions.

# 2.3.3 Comparative case study approach

Chapter 6 tests the hypothesis – 2 by looking at two country cases by applying comparative case study approach, following a political economy book (Benczes, 2023), in which I contributed Chapter 12 (Bulgamaa, 2023). This study compared two distinct cases through a paired comparison process to assess whether changes in water access inequality is associated with 'success' and 'failure' in the efforts reducing child diarrhea mortality.

## 2.3.4 Software

The analysis was carried out in STATA 17.0 software. Some visualizations were generated in Tableau, the web-tools of World Bank, IHME, and MS Excel.

# 3. Findings & Payoffs

# 3.1 Findings

The key findings of the dissertation as follow:

• Water access inequalities matter for child mortality (H-1).

- Decrease in water access inequalities are significantly positively associated with success in child mortality reduction (H-2.1).
- Increase in water access inequalities are significantly positively associated with failure in child mortality reduction (H-2.2).
- Absence of progress in water access inequalities (WII) is significantly positively associated with *success* in child diarrhea mortality (CDM), if the absence of change in WII is due to the presence of a high initial coverage of water (H-2.3).

Conversely,

- When investigating two outliers, we fail to reject the null hypothesis of the H-2.4: Absence of progress in water access inequalities (WII) is associated with failure in child diarrhea mortality (CDM), if the absence of progress in WII is due to the absence of improvement towards full coverage of water (H-2.4).
- This suggests that water inequality effect can be camouflaged when testing on the total mortality data. Because we found evidence indicating (WII) inequality increased due to increased coverage for rich and decreased coverage for poor. In this case, the rich gains health, while the poor loses health, given that water and health are directly associated. In this case, health gain of the rich may offset health loss of the poor, which in turn appear as a net health gain for the general population.

It, therefore, does not necessarily contradict the hypothesis on the relationship between water inequality -child mortality.

- It, therefore, suggests that inequality-inequality analysis (inequality in water access inequality in child mortality).
- All in all, our findings broadly suggest that water access inequalities matter for child diarrhea mortality (i), and water access inequalities may hinder progress in efforts reducing child diarrhea mortality (ii).

#### 3.2 Payoffs

Chapter 2 contributes the existing literature by three ways. First, its attempt to conceptualize water access inequality and highlight an economic pathway is often neglected in the published empirical studies. Second, clarifying a health economics approach to child mortality studies is an added value, given that the study of child mortality is interdisciplinary in nature and it is not often clearly stated. A myriad of existing studies approached from various different perspectives such as epidemiology, public health, social science, development studies, welfare economics, historical and neoclassical economics, make it even more difficult. Third, the conceptualization of this chapter as a whole is unique itself, given that an intersection of water and health research approached from an economics perspective is rare, not to mention its attempt to integrate the notion of distributive justice into the water variable.

The main contribution of Chapter 4 is generating water access inequality index, which allows a further analysis to assess its likely effect on child mortality outcomes. In doing so a new approach to water inequality discourse is applied to build a multi-country panel by borrowing from health inequality research. This approach has important advantages, compared to alternative approaches, such as more effective, more accurate, highly pragmatic and easy to integrate with existing datasets accumulated as a result of decades long international cooperation.

Chapter 5 contributes the literature by bringing a new explanatory variable – water access inequality – into the debate on global child mortality in which we attempt to recognize the role of the distribution of water access for child survival in LMICs, on the one hand, and exploiting a new global dataset on child mortality on the other. It also addressed limitations of the previous studies by focusing on socioeconomic aspect rather than geographic aspect of water inequality (Local Burden of Disease WaSH Collaborators, 2020) and applying a panel design rather than (repeated) cross-sectional design (Cha et al., 2017; Hasan and Alam, 2020). In constructing the panel, we used several techniques to improve its efficiency by interpolating (Anand and Bärnighausen, 2004b; Jamison et al., 2016); extending the panel by including country-time-fixed-effects (Greene, 2003) and Driscoll-and-Kraay standard errors (Hoechle, 2007); and performing

robustness check with alternative datasets. In addition, we complement the study by approaching through in-depth comparative analysis in Chapter 6.

## 4. Main references

- Anand, S., Bärnighausen, T., 2012. Health workers at the core of the health system: Framework and research issues. Health Policy 105, 185–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2011.10.012
- Anand, S., Bärnighausen, T., 2007. Health workers and vaccination coverage in developing countries: an econometric analysis. The Lancet 369, 1277– 1285. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60599-6
- Anand, S., Bärnighausen, T., 2004a. Human resources and health outcomes: crosscountry econometric study. The Lancet 364, 1603–1609. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17313-3
- Anand, S., Bärnighausen, T., 2004b. Human resources and health outcomes: crosscountry econometric study. The Lancet 364, 1603–1609. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17313-3
- Barro, Robert.J., 2013. Health and economic growth. Ann. Econ. Finance 14, 329–366.
- Barro, Robert.J., 1996. Determinants of economic growth: a cross-country empirical study (No. NBER Working Paper 5698).
- Benczes, I. (Ed.), 2023. Economic Policies Under Populist Leaders: A CEE Perspective. Routledge.
- Besnier, E., Thomson, K., Stonkute, D., Mohammad, T., Akhter, N., Todd, A., Jensen, M.R., Kilvik, A., Bambra, C., 2021. Which public health interventions are effective in reducing morbidity, mortality and health inequalities from infectious diseases amongst children in low- And middle-income countries (LMICs): An umbrella review. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251905
- Bleichrodt, H., van Doorslaer, E., 2006. A welfare economics foundation for health inequality measurement. J. Health Econ. 25, 945–957. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2006.01.002
- Bulgamaa, U., 2023. Where populism has become the mainstream: The Case of Bulgaria, in: Benczes, I. (Ed.), Economic Policies Under Populist Leaders: A CEE Perspective. Routledge.
- Cetrulo, T.B., Marques, R.C., Malheiros, T.F., Cetrulo, N.M., 2020. Monitoring inequality in water access: Challenges for the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Sci. Total Environ. 727, 138746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138746

- Cha, S., Mankadi, P.M., Elhag, M.S., Lee, Y., Jin, Y., 2017. Trends of improved water and sanitation coverage around the globe between 1990 and 2010: inequality among countries and performance of official development assistance. Glob. Health Action 10, 1327170. https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2017.1327170
- Cutler, D., Deaton, A., Lleras-Muney, A., 2006. The Determinants of Mortality. J. Econ. Perspect. 20, 97–120. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.20.3.97
- Cutler, D., Miller, G., 2005. The Role of Public Health Improvements in Health Advances: The Twentieth-Century United States. Demography 42, 1–22.
- Deaton, A., 2003. Health, Inequality, and Economic Development. J. Econ. Lit. 41, 113–158.
- Filmer, D., Pritchett, L.H., 2001. Estimating wealth effects without expenditure data—or tears: An application to educational enrollments in states of India. Demography 38, 115–132. https://doi.org/10.1353/dem.2001.0003
- Fink, G., Günther, I., Hill, K., 2011. The effect of water and sanitation on child health: evidence from the demographic and health surveys 1986–2007. Int. J. Epidemiol. 40, 1196–1204. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyr102
- Finlay, J., 2007. The Role of Health in Economic Development. Harv. Initiat. Glob. Health Online PGDA Working Paper No. 21.
- Fogel, R., 1997. New findings on secular trends in nutrition and mortality: Some implications for population theory, in: Rosenzweig, M., Stark, O. (Eds.), Handbook of Population and Family Economics, 1. Elsevier, North Holland, pp. 433–481.
- Greene, W.H., 2003. Econometric analysis, 5th ed. ed. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, N.J.
- Grossman, M., 1972. On the Concept of Health Capital and the Demand for Health. J. Polit. Econ. 80, 223–255. https://doi.org/10.1086/259880
- Gunther, I., Fink, G., 2010. Water, Sanitation And Children's Health : Evidence From 172 DHS Surveys, Policy Research Working Papers. The World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-5275
- Hasan, M.M., Alam, K., 2020. Inequality in access to improved drinking water sources and childhood diarrhoea in low- and middle-income countries. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113493
- Hoddinott, J., 1997. WATER, HEALTH, AND INCOME: A REVIEW. Int. Food Policy Res. Inst. DISCUSSION PAPER NO. 25, 1–41.
- Hoechle, D., 2007. Robust Standard Errors for Panel Regressions with Cross-Sectional Dependence. Stata J. Promot. Commun. Stat. Stata 7, 281–312. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536867X0700700301
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), 2020. GBD Compare Data Visualization.
- Jakovljevic, M. (Michael), Ogura, S., 2016. Health Economics at the Crossroads of Centuries – From the Past to the Future. Front. Public Health 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00115

- Jamison, D.T., Murphy, S.M., Sandbu, M.E., 2016. Why has under-5 mortality decreased at such different rates in different countries? J. Health Econ. 48, 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2016.03.002
- Kakwani, N., Wagstaff, A., van Doorslaer, E., 1997. Socioeconomic inequalities in health: Measurement, computation, and statistical inference. J. Econom. 77, 87–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4076(96)01807-6
- Kanbur, R., Wagstaff, A., 2014. How Useful Is Inequality of Opportunity as a Policy Construct?, Working Paper. World Bank Policy Research.
- Local Burden of Disease WaSH Collaborators, 2020. Mapping geographical inequalities in access to drinking water and sanitation facilities in low-income and middle-income countries, 2000–17. Lancet Glob. Health 8, e1162–e1185. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30278-3
- Mushkin, S.J., 1962. Health as an Investment. J. Polit. Econ. 70, 129–157. https://doi.org/10.1086/258730
- Novignon, J., Lawanson, A., 2017. Health expenditure and child health outcomes in sub-Saharan Africa. African Review of Economics and Finance. Afr. Rev. Econ. Finance 9, 96–121.
- Nyamuranga, C., Shin, J., 2019. Public health expenditure and child mortality in Southern Africa. Int. J. Soc. Econ. 46, 1137–1154. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSE-12-2018-0643
- O'Donnell, O., van Doorslaer, E., Wagstaff, A., Lindelow, M., 2007. Analyzing Health Equity Using Household Survey Data: A Guide to Techniques and their Implementation. The World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-0-8213-6933-3
- Paes de Barros, R., Ferreira, F.H.G., Molinas Vega, J.R., Saavedra Chanduvi, J., De Carvalho, M., Franco, S., Freije-Rodriguez, S., Gignoux, J., 2009. Measuring inequality of opportunities in Latin America and the Caribbean. Latin American development forum Washington, D.C: World Bank Group.
- Pickett, K.E., Wilkinson, R.G., 2015. Income inequality and health: A causal review. Soc. Sci. Med. 128, 316–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.12.031
- Roberts, T.J., Carnahan, E., Gakidou, E., 2013. Can breastfeeding promote child health equity? A comprehensive analysis of breastfeeding patterns across the developing world and what we can learn from them. BMC Med. 11, 254. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-11-254
- Roemer, J.E., 1998. Equality of Opportunity. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Sen, A., 1993. Capability and Well-Being, in: Nussbaum, Sen (Eds.), The Quality of Life. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Sen, A., 1992. Inequality reexamined. Russell Sage Foundation ; Harvard University Press, New York : Cambridge, Mass.
- Setty, K., Jiménez, A., Willetts, J., Leifels, M., Bartram, J., 2020. Global water, sanitation and hygiene research priorities and learning challenges under

Sustainable Development Goal 6. Dev. Policy Rev. 38, 64–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12475

- Setty, K., Loret, J.-F., Courtois, S., Hammer, C.C., Hartemann, P., Lafforgue, M., Litrico, X., Manasfi, T., Medema, G., Shaheen, M., Tesson, V., Bartram, J., 2019. Faster and safer: Research priorities in water and health. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 222, 593–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2019.03.003
- Szreter, S., 1988. The Importance of Social Intervention in Britain's Mortality Decline.1850–1914: a Re-interpretation of the Role of Public Health. Soc. Hist. Med. 1, 1–38. https://doi.org/10.1093/shm/1.1.1
- United Nations (Ed.), 1990. Human development report 1990. Published for the United Nations (New York) Development Programme. Oxford Univ. Pr, New York.
- Wagstaff, A., Paci, P., van Doorslaer, E., 1991. On the measurement of inequalities in health. Soc. Sci. Med. 33, 545–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(91)90212-U
- Watson, T., 2006. Public health investments and the infant mortality gap: Evidence from federal sanitation interventions on U.S. Indian reservations. J. Public Econ. 90, 1537–1560. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2005.10.002
- WHO-UNICEF, J.M.P., 2018. JMP METHODOLOGY: 2017 UPDATE & SDG BASELINES.
- Wilkinson, R.G., Pickett, K.E., 2006. Income inequality and population health: A review and explanation of the evidence. Soc. Sci. Med. 62, 1768–1784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.08.036
- Woods, R.I., Watterson, P.A., Woodward, J.H., 1989. The Causes of Rapid Infant Mortality Decline in England and Wales, 1861–1921. Part II. Popul. Stud. 43, 113–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/0032472031000143876
- Woods, R.I., Watterson, P.A., Woodward, Jh., 1988. The Causes of Rapid Infant Mortality Decline in England and Wales, 1861–1921 Part I. Popul. Stud. 42, 343–366. https://doi.org/10.1080/0032472031000143516
- World Bank, 1993. World Development Report 1993: Investing in Health. Oxford University Press, New York.
- World Health Organization, 2021. Rotavirus vaccines: WHO position paper July 2021.

# 5. List of selected publications

Bulgamaa, U. (2023) Where populism has become the mainstream: The Case of Bulgaria, Routledge, in Benczes, I. Economic Policies Under Populist Leaders: *A CEE Perspective*.

Bulgamaa, U. (2021) Measuring inequalities in access to water and sanitation: A literature review of the quantitative studies published in 2015-2020 in Szerényi, Z., Salamin, G., & Nemes, Z. Environmental, social and economic sustainability in the light of the geopolitical challenges of our age. 2021

Bulgamaa, U. (2019) Unsolved Trinity: Analysis on the case of Grand Ethiopian Renaissance Dam. *Köz-Gazdaság - Review of Economic Theory and Policy*, *14*(4). Retrieved from <u>http://retp.eu/index.php/retp/article/view/213</u>

Bulgamaa, U. (2022) Effects of socio-economic inequalities in access to basic drinking water on child mortality: Evidence from low-and-middle income countries (2000-2017). UNU-WIDER Development Conference Reducing inequality – the great challenge of our time. (Abstract).

Mohammed, K. S., Usman, M., Ahmad, P., & Bulgamaa, U. (2022) Do all renewable energy stocks react to the war in Ukraine? Russo-Ukrainian conflict perspective. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-24833-5</u>.